
 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services (01254) 380109 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on: Friday 12th April 2019 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Wednesday, 24 April 2019 at 2.00 pm, 
Council Chamber, Accrington Town Hall 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Eamonn Higgins 
Vice-Chair:  Councillor Loraine Cox 
 
Councillors Judith Addison, Jean Battle, Stephen Button, Stewart Eaves, Melissa Fisher, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Abdul Khan, Dave Parkins, Kath Pratt and Paddy Short 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

2.   Minutes of the Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 
To submit the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on the 23rd January 
2019 for approval as a correct record. 
 
Recommended  - That the minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

3.   Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination  
(Pages 5 - 24) 
 
The attached report sets out recommended action on the following planning 
application(s):- 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2 

 

3A - 11/19/0024: Unit 1 The Peel Centre Whitebirk Rishton 
Planning Obligation modification sought to Section 106 dated 23/06/09 
 
3B - 11/19/0016: Unit 1 The Peel Centre Whitebirk Rishton 
Major full: Relocation of existing subdivision within unit 1, change of use of the 
remodelled Unit 1B from Class A1 (retail) to Class D2 (assembly and leisure), and 
installation of a mezzanine floor. 
 
Recommended - That the application(s) be determined as set out in the 
report. 
 

 
 



 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 23rd January, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), 

Councillors Loraine Cox (Vice Chair), Judith Addison, Mohammad Ayub, 
Jean Battle, Stephen Button, Stewart Eaves, Melissa Fisher, 
June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Dave Parkins, Kath Pratt and 
Paddy Short 
 

Apologies: Councillors Abdul Khan 

  

 
281 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Abdul Khan. 
 
Councillor Mohammad Ayub acted as substitute representative for Councillor Khan. 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations.  
              
 

282 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 12th December 2018, were 
submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct  

record. 
 

283 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out recommended 
action on the following planning applications. 
 
Resolved  - (1) (a) That the following planning application be refused  

contrary to Officer recommendation as per the report on the grounds of 
harmful overbearing appearance and impact on the surrounding 
neighbourhood, and:-   

 
- (b) That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer to draft reasons for refusal and issue any 
associated enforcement action.  

 
11/18/0457 Springview, All Springs Close, Great Harwood, BB6 7SD. 

Erection of single storey extension to existing annexe (Retrospective) 
 
N.B. 1. The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer drew the Committee’s  

attention to the extra information contained within the update report which  
was released before the meeting and related to the above planning  
application. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
 

 2. Mrs Muhsen spoke at the Committee in support of the above planning  
application and in favour of the Officer’s recommendation to approve planning  
permission. 

 
3. County Councillor Miles Parkinson spoke in objection of the above planning  
application and against the Officer’s recommendation to approve planning  
permission. 

 
 
Resolved  - (2) (a) That the following planning application be refused  

contrary to Officer recommendation as per the report on the grounds of 
unacceptable adverse impact on local amenities and residents 
including  noise and parking problems along with an increase in 
cooking odour smells:-   

 
- (b) That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer to draft reasons for refusal. 

 
11/18/0458 59 Plantation Street, Accrington, BB5 6RZ. 

Change of use from A1 (Retail) to A5 (Take Away) 
 
N.B. 1. The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer drew the Committee’s  

attention to the extra information contained within the update report which was 
released before the meeting and related to the above planning application. 

 
 2. Mr Humphrey spoke at the Committee in objection of the above planning  

application and against the Officer’s recommendation to approve planning 
permission. 

 
3. Peel Ward Councillor Joyce Plummer spoke in objection of the above  
planning application and against the Officer’s recommendation to approve  
planning permission. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 4



 

 

REPORT TO:  PLANNING COMMITTEE, 24th April 2019, 2.00PM  
 
REPORT BY:  CHIEF PLANNING & TRANSPORTATION OFFICER 
 

APPLICATIONS SUBMITTED UNDER  
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 FOR DETERMINATION 

 
Purpose of Report:  To present planning applications for determination as set out in 
the report. 
 
3A 11/19/0024 Unit 1 The Peel Centre Whitebirk Rishton 

Planning Obligation modification sought to Section 106 dated 
23/06/09 

 

3B 11/19/0016 Unit 1 The Peel Centre Whitebirk Rishton  

Major full: Relocation of existing subdivision within unit 1, change of 
use of the remodelled Unit 1B from Class A1 (retail) to Class D2 
(assembly and leisure), and installation of a mezzanine floor. 

 

 
NOTE:  The policies referred to under “Relevant Policies” are set out in the 
Hyndburn Borough Local Plan, Hyndburn Core Strategy and National Planning 
Policy Framework.   
 
A list of the above documents and background papers relating to each planning 
report can also be inspected at Scaitcliffe House, Accrington, upon request or via 
the Hyndburn Borough Council website:  
http://planning.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/WAM/searchsubmit/performOption.do?action=se
arch&appType=Planning 
 
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.

http://planning.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/WAM/searchsubmit/performOption.do?action=search&appType=Planning
http://planning.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/WAM/searchsubmit/performOption.do?action=search&appType=Planning


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Application Number: 11/19/0024 

 

Full Application  Planning Obligation modification sought to Section 106 

dated 23/06/09 

 

Address   Unit 1 The Peel Centre Whitebirk Rishton  

 

Determination by:    14th March 2019. 

 

Applicant:   Peel Land and Property Investments PLC  

 

Agent:    NJL Consulting  

 

Human Rights: The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European 

Convention on Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, 

particularly the implications arising from Article 8 (the right to respect for private and family 

life, home and correspondence) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (the right of peaceful enjoyment 

of possessions and protection of property). 

 

The application is before Planning Committee as it relates to a S106 Agreement under the 

1990 Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

 

Description: 

 

Planning Obligation Modification sought to section 106 Agreement dated 23.06.09. 

 

Application Site 

 

The application site is Unit 1, of The Peel Centre. This unit has previously been subdivided 

to create the two existing units.  

 

Proposal 

 

The applicant is seeking to vary the S106 agreement that was entered into by Hyndburn 

Borough Council and Peel Investments (UK) Limited on 23rd June 2009 that restricts the 

range of goods that can be sold from Unit 1 The Peel Centre. This will allow additional 

products to be sold from Unit 1A.   

 

This application has been submitted alongside an application (11 19 0016) to relocate the 

division of Unit 1 to create Unit 1A (32000sq m) which would still operate as an A1 retail use 

and Unit 1B (25000sqm) which would operate as a D2 us (assembly and leisure) and be 

used as a gym. A mezzanine floor would be included in Unit 1B.  External changes would be 

considered later as part of a separate application should these applications be approved. 

There is car parking immediately adjacent to the front of the unit. 

 

Consultations 

Page 7



2 

 

Public Consultation: No comments have been received. 

 

LCC Highways: No objection to the proposal provided some further works carried out at the 

junction to secure a safe and suitable access for the development and to mitigate the impact 

of the development traffic as follows: 

1. Replace signal head causing red lamp fault with a model compatible with the site's 

red lamp monitoring system to ensure conflicting red phases are not unnecessarily 

delayed or inhibited. 

2. Directional arrows on lane 2 of the Blakewater Road approach to the southern 

junction should be amended to allow for a straight on movement to the Peel Centre. 

3. A new configuration should be installed including MOVA Detector Outputs for toucan 

wait confirms to allow safe introduction of MOVA control. MOVA control would 

provide safer management of high speed vehicles on A6119 Whitebirk Drive and 

provide additional capacity and reduce driver delay. This would have the additional 

benefit of moving the RAM changes made to this controller, part of the controller 

configuration so would not need to be lost if the site lost power. 

4. Following the addition of toucan wait confirm outputs to MOVA, a new MOVA dataset 

should be introduced, with MOVA linking should the two junctions now be run in 

separate streams. Any MOVA dataset should be fully validated both immediately 

after introduction and 6 months after introduction to allow for a "settling in period". 

5. Detector loops HX31 and HX32 should be recut on Blakewater Road, between the 

side roads for Lancashire Constabulary East Divisional Headquarters and the access 

road to Energy Northwest Depot. This will give MOVA control adequate time to make 

appropriate stage end decisions. Detector HX33 would remain to allow MOVA to 

count out vehicles into the right hand lane when it appears. 

6. Further modelling work should be carried out to investigate possible staging 

improvements including running the two junctions as separate streams with linking, 

possibly in the form of priority demands from queue detection on loops between 

junctions (Could dual purpose the existing IN or X loops). 

7. Investigate whether a need exists for linking with the A6119 Whitebirk Drive/Trident 

Way junction (L3025) to the north and/or M65 Junction 6 (L3027 and L3028) to the 

south. 

The works noted above would be secured through a s278 agreement with the Highways 

authority. 

 

Although parking provision is below the required amount, there is no objection as there is 

enough overspill parking across the remainder of the site to accommodate this development 

and the two uses are likely to peak at different types of the day. 

 

Two conditions are required one in relation to parking provision and one in relation to the 

s278 works.  

 

HBC Environmental Health: No objections to the application.  

 

Blackburn with Darwen Council: No comments have been received.  

  

Page 8



3 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

The site of the Peel Centre was once occupied by buildings and infrastructure associated 

with the Whitebirk Power Station.  In September 1984, outline planning permission (ref 

11/83/0679) was granted for the erection of warehouse units (50,000 sq ft) and non-food 

retail units (50,000 sq ft) garden centre building with open display including car parking 

service areas and access road.  The planning permission was granted subject to planning 

conditions and a legal agreement (a s.52 agreement) that restricted the range of goods that 

could be sold from the area of the planning permission.   

 

Planning permission was subsequently granted in January 1985, ref 11/84/0724, for the 

erection of a non-food retail unit which was proposed to be occupied by a D.I.Y retailer (Do-

it-all).  This was subject to the same legal agreement.  . 

 

In 1995 planning permission was granted (ref 11/95/0017) to sub-divide Unit 2 into two 

separate units and in 1999 planning permission (ref 11/99/0441) was granted for the use of 

the land to form a garden centre.   

 

In 2005 a planning application (ref 11/05/0395) was submitted for the reconfiguration of the 

retail park to provide replacement Class A1 retail units, 2no A3 units, recladding of the 

existing units and the construction of an additional access, associated landscaping and 

ancillary works.  In terms of floorspace, the application proposed the demolition of 9,157m2 

gross of existing units and the development of 13,769m2 gross of new retail floorspace, a 

proportion of which was mezzanine flooring.  The application also provided for the relaxation 

of the existing s.106 agreements to allow a total of 4,454m2 of open A1 (non-food) 

floorspace.  This was refused in July 2007 for two reasons: 

1. The establishment of open A1 retailing at this bulky goods retail park would be 

contrary to established government objectives, as set out in Planning Policy Statement 6: 

Planning for Town Centres, of focusing retail development in town centres in order to 

strengthen and regenerate them and to promote vital and viable town centres in order to 

achieve sustainable development.  The proposed development would be likely to adversely 

impact on both Accrington and Blackburn Town Centres and act as a disincentive for new 

investment in the town centres.   

2. The application does not satisfy the sequential approach to the location of retail 

proposals in that there are sequentially preferable sites available to accommodate a 

proportion of the open A1 floorspace.  In failing the sequential assessment the application is 

contrary to Policy EC8 of the Regional Spatial Strategy.   

 

The applicant appealed and following a public inquiry the appeal (ref APP/R2330 /A/07/ 

2051143) was dismissed in June 2008.  The Inspector believed that geographically superior 

locations existed in the centres of Accrington and Blackburn and that the development 

would have negative and harmful impacts on these critical areas of both towns.  Although 

the main issue was the potential impact of the development on the vitality and viability of 

town centres, the accessibility of the site was also considered by the Inspector.  At 

paragraph 43 he recognised that the “location of the appeal site is such that it would be 

Page 9



4 

 

difficult to render it significantly more attractive to pedestrians or cyclists, but I believe this 

aspect of the case is more than outweighed by the improved bus service.”   

 

In 2009 the Council entered into a s.106 agreement with the applicant that replaced the 

agreements made under s.52 but still restricted the range of goods that could be sold from a 

large portion of the Peel Centre, including the application site (Unit 6).  This was achieved 

through application 11/09/0042 and the officers report recognised that the aim of the original 

agreement was to protect the vitality and viability of the adjacent town centres of Blackburn 

and Accrington and the local centres such as Rishton.   

 

In February 2011 a planning application (ref 11/11/0065) was submitted for the 

reconfiguration and partial demolition of Unit 2 and the creation of two units.  This was 

granted subject to planning conditions and the s.106 agreement limiting the range of goods 

that could be sold on the site remained in force.   

 

However, in December 2011 an application for a certificate of lawfulness for retail use was 

submitted for Unit 2 (ref 11/11/0515).  This application was refused and although the 

applicant appealed, the appeal was later withdrawn and the matter was determined through 

the courts.  The Court of Appeal determined in 2013 that the units should be subject to the 

provisions of the legal agreements that had been entered into and that there was no 

entitlement to use the unit(s) for unrestricted retail use.   

 

In 2015 an application was made for Unit 2 to be a food retail store (11/15/0430). This was 

approved subject to a S106 relating to the goods that could be sold.  

 

11/19/0016 Full Major: Relocation of existing subdivision within unit1, change of use of the 

remodelled 1B from Use ClassA1 (retail) to Use Class D2 (assembly and leisure), and 

installation of a mezzanine floor. Currently being considered 

 

Relevant Policies   

 

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that if regard is to 

be had to the development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 

Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.   

 

Hyndburn Core Strategy 

 

Policy BD1  The Balanced Development Strategy 

Policy A2  Accrington Town Centre 

Policy Env7   Environmental Amenity 

Policy HC4  Community Benefits/ Planning Obligations 

 

Development Management Development Plan Document 

 

GC1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  

Page 10



5 

 

GC2: Infrastructure, Planning Obligations and CIL 

DM3: Development of main town centre uses 

DM332 Sustainable Transport, Traffic and Highway Safety 

 

Material considerations 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) including  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

Hyndburn Retail Study 2016 

DMDPD GN8: Car parking, access standards and transport assessment/travel plan 

thresholds. 

 

Proceedure 

 

The application is to modify the existing S106 agreement which was agreed between 

Hyndburn Borough Council and Peel Investments dated 23.06.09. This agreement was 

made to ensure that the park remains a bulky goods retail park, in order to protect the vitality 

and viability of nearby town centres.  

 

Upon the receipt of this type of application, the Local Planning Authority must determine: 

 

a. That the planning obligation shall continue to have effect without modification; 

b. If the obligation no longer serves a useful purpose, that it shall be discharged; or 

c. If the obligation continues to serve a useful purpose, but would serve that purpose 

equally well if it had effect subject to the modifications specified in the application, that 

it shall have effect subject to those modifications.  

 

Officers consider that the s106 across the Peel Centre which was agreed 23.06.09, 

continues to serve a useful purpose, firstly because the key objective of local planning policy 

and the NPPF with regards to town centres is to protect their vitality and viability, to plan for 

their growth and development and to secure the promotion and enhancement by focusing 

development in centres. Secondly, the PPG sets out that ‘in areas where there are high 

levels of vacancy and limited retailer demand, even modest trade diversion from a new 

development may lead to a significant adverse impact’, and finally that any development at 

the Peel Centre must be managed in a sustainable way to avoid a harmful and negative 

effect on the town Centres of Accrington, Great Harwood and nearby Blackburn.  

 

For the purpose of this application to vary the s106 therefore it is necessary to consider 

whether the obligation would serve equally well in this purpose subject to the modifications 

sought. 

 

Modifications sought: 

 

1. That the obligations in paragraph 1 and 2 of Schedule 1 of the 2009 Agreement shall 

not apply to part of Unit 1 (Unit 1A- as defined by the site plan) (whilst continuing to 

apply to the remainder of the Peel Site now bound by it); and  

Page 11



6 

 

2. That a new agreement shall regulate the use of unit 1A which becomes Home 

Bargains will occupy (as defined by the site plan). Within that new agreement, the list 

of permitted goods acceptable to unit 1A shall be the same as the list within 

paragraph 2 of Schedule1 of the 2009 Agreement, but with additional permitted 

categories so to allow Home Bargains to trade to its standard product line and 

business model. This will include food and drink (from up to 30% of gross floor area), 

household goods (such as cleaning products), health and beauty including toiletries, 

make-up and other cosmetic, dental care and personal care, baby products toys and 

games, and other items sold as ancillary to the range of goods permitted including a 

limited clothing and footwear (not to exceed 20% of the gross floor space). 

 

The proposal has been considered by an external consultant who has provided independent 

advice to Officers on the impact these changes would have. His comments are considered 

in full in the report for the 11/19/0016 application, also being considered at committee. For 

the purposes of this report the findings are summarised below. 

 

Sequential test:  

 

In line with Policy DM3 of the DM DPD, and paragraphs 86-87 of the NPPF, the applicant 

has demonstrated that there are no sequentially preferable sites that are available or 

suitable for the proposed development. The sequential test is therefore passed.  

 

Impact test:  

 

In line with Policy DM3 of the DM DPD, and paragraph 89 of the NPPF, the applicant has 

also demonstrated that there is no ‘significantly adverse’ impact on town centre vitality and 

viability from the proposed Home Bargains store (there is no policy requirement for an 

impact assessment on the proposed gym unit as it is below the national floorspace threshold 

of 2,500sqm). Cumulative trading impacts of 8% on Great Harwood, 3% on Blackburn and 

1.5% on Accrington are estimated based on this proposal and other recent permissions 

granted at the Peel Centre since the Council undertook its Retail Study and latest town 

centre health checks. When considered in the context of the overall health, vitality and 

viability of these centres, the estimated trading impacts are not deemed ‘significantly 

adverse’. The applications therefore satisfy the impact test set out in policy. 

 

It is also necessary to consider if the modifications to the s106 would have any other 

significantly detrimental impacts as a result; the main consideration for the purposes of this 

application is traffic and highway safety which is addressed below. 

 

Traffic and highway safety: 

 

Policy Env7 of the Core Strategy aims to avoid development which has an unacceptable 

adverse impact by reason of traffic. DMDPD DM 32 also provides further detail in relation to 

traffic and highway considerations.  

 

Page 12



7 

 

The applicant has submitted a Transport Assessment which has been considered in full by 

the Highways Authority (HA).  

 

The HA has provided comments which are provided in detail in the planning application also 

before planning committee (11/19/0016). In brief, it is agreed by the HA  that the 

development is acceptable, subject to some works which will be carried out as part of a 

S278 agreement with LCC as noted in the consultation section of this report. Without these 

works the HA does not consider that the development would be acceptable and would 

recommend refusal. Some changes to the parking provision are also required, as set out in 

the 11/19/0016 report, along with suggested conditions. It will ne necessary in the update 

sheet to consider the mechanism which will secure these requirements. This will be reported 

in the update sheet. 

 

Therefore in the absence of an objection on these grounds from the statutory consultee, and 

the inclusion of the suggested conditions as set out the 11/19/0016 report, Officers are 

satisfied that the development meets with local and national planning policy in this regard. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Therefore Officers are satisfied that the amended s106 would serve its purpose equally well 

if it had effect subject to the modifications specified in the application. As such it is 

considered that the modifications sought for unit 1A are acceptable in this regard. 

 

Recommendation: 

 

That the modification to the s106 agreement is approved.  

 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Application Number: 11/19/0016 

 

Full Application Major full: Relocation of existing subdivision within unit 1, 

change of use of the remodelled Unit 1B from Class A1 

(retail) to Class D2 (assembly and leisure), and installation 

of a mezzanine floor. 

 

Address   Unit 1 The Peel Centre Whitebirk Rishton  

 

Determination by:    18th April 2019 

 

Applicant:   Peel Land and Property Investments PLC  

 

Agent:    NJL Consulting  

 

Human Rights: The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European 

Convention on Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, 

particularly the implications arising from Article 8 (the right to respect for private and family 

life, home and correspondence) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (the right of peaceful enjoyment 

of possessions and protection of property). 

 

The application is before Planning Committee at the request of the Chief Planning and 

Transportation Officer and because this planning application sits alongside an application to 

modify the s.106 agreement that is in place for this part of the Peel Centre.   

 

Description: 

 

Major full: Relocation of existing subdivision within Unit 1, change of use of the remodelled 

Unit 1B from Class A1 (retail) to Class D2 (assembly and leisure), and installation of a 

mezzanine floor. 

 

Application Site 

 

The application site is Unit 1, of The Peel Centre, in the south east corner of the site.  

 

Proposal 

 

Unit 1 has previously been subdivided to create the two existing units. The new proposed 

subdivision of this unit would be moved and would result in the creation of Unit 1A (which 

would remain for A1 retail sales totalling 32000 sq ft) and a change of use would occur for 

Unit 1B to provide space for 15000sq ft D2 use with a 10000sq ft mezzanine floor also for 

D2 use.  

 

External changes would be considered later as part of a separate application should these 

applications are approved. There is car parking immediately adjacent to the front of the unit. 

 

Page 15



2 

 

 

This application has been submitted alongside an application (11 19 0024) to amend the 

s106 agreement dated 23.06.09 which restricted the goods that could be sold in this unit 

(and the remainder of the park). Should this be approved, the range of goods which can be 

sold from Unit 1A will be relaxed. This application is also before Planning Committee for 

determination today.   

 

Consultations 

 

Public consultation: No comments have been received. 

 

LCC Highways: No objection to the proposal provided some further works carried out at the 

junction to secure a safe and suitable access for the development and to mitigate the impact 

of the development traffic as follows: 

1. Replace signal head causing red lamp fault with a model compatible with the site's 

red lamp monitoring system to ensure conflicting red phases are not unnecessarily delayed 

or inhibited. 

2. Directional arrows on lane 2 of the Blakewater Road approach to the southern 

junction should be amended to allow for a straight on movement to the Peel Centre. 

3. A new configuration should be installed including MOVA Detector Outputs for toucan 

wait confirms to allow safe introduction of MOVA control. MOVA control would provide safer 

management of high speed vehicles on A6119 Whitebirk Drive and provide additional 

capacity and reduce driver delay. This would have the additional benefit of moving the RAM 

changes made to this controller, part of the controller configuration so would not need to be 

lost if the site lost power. 

4. Following the addition of toucan wait confirm outputs to MOVA, a new MOVA dataset 

should be introduced, with MOVA linking should the two junctions now be run in separate 

streams. Any MOVA dataset should be fully validated both immediately after introduction 

and 6 months after introduction to allow for a "settling in period". 

5. Detector loops HX31 and HX32 should be recut on Blakewater Road, between the 

side roads for Lancashire Constabulary East Divisional Headquarters and the access road 

to Energy Northwest Depot. This will give MOVA control adequate time to make appropriate 

stage end decisions. Detector HX33 would remain to allow MOVA to count out vehicles into 

the right hand lane when it appears. 

6. Further modelling work should be carried out to investigate possible staging 

improvements including running the two junctions as separate streams with linking, possibly 

in the form of priority demands from queue detection on loops between junctions (Could 

dual purpose the existing IN or X loops). 

7. Investigate whether a need exists for linking with the A6119 Whitebirk Drive/Trident 

Way junction (L3025) to the north and/or M65 Junction 6 (L3027 and L3028) to the south. 

The works noted above would be secured through a s278 agreement with the Highways 

authority. 

 

Although parking provision is below the required amount, there is no objection as there is 

enough overspill parking across the remainder of the site to accommodate this development 

and the two uses are likely to peak at different types of the day. 

Page 16



3 

 

 

Two conditions are required one in relation to parking provision and one in relation to the 

s278 works. 

 

HBC Environmental Health; No objections to the application providing conditions are 

attached in relation to the construction phase and mechanical ventilation.  

 

Blackburn with Darwen Council: No comments have been received. 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

The site of the Peel Centre was once occupied by buildings and infrastructure associated 

with the Whitebirk Power Station.  In September 1984, outline planning permission (ref 

11/83/0679) was granted for the erection of warehouse units (50,000 sq ft) and non-food 

retail units (50,000 sq ft) garden centre building with open display including car parking 

service areas and access road.  The planning permission was granted subject to planning 

conditions and a legal agreement (a s.52 agreement) that restricted the range of goods that 

could be sold from the area of the planning permission.   

 

Planning permission was subsequently granted in January 1985, ref 11/84/0724, for the 

erection of a non-food retail unit which was proposed to be occupied by a D.I.Y retailer (Do-

it-all).  This was subject to the same legal agreement.   

 

In 1995 planning permission was granted (ref 11/95/0017) to sub-divide Unit 2 into two 

separate units and in 1999 planning permission (ref 11/99/0441) was granted for the use of 

the land to form a garden centre.   

 

In 2005 a planning application (ref 11/05/0395) was submitted for the reconfiguration of the 

retail park to provide replacement Class A1 retail units, 2no A3 units, recladding of the 

existing units and the construction of an additional access, associated landscaping and 

ancillary works.  In terms of floorspace, the application proposed the demolition of 9,157m2 

gross of existing units and the development of 13,769m2 gross of new retail floorspace, a 

proportion of which was mezzanine flooring.  The application also provided for the relaxation 

of the existing s.106 agreements to allow a total of 4,454m2 of open A1 (non-food) 

floorspace.  This was refused in July 2007 for two reasons:   

1. The establishment of open A1 retailing at this bulky goods retail park would be 

contrary to established government objectives, as set out in Planning Policy Statement 6: 

Planning for Town Centres, of focusing retail development in town centres in order to 

strengthen and regenerate them and to promote vital and viable town centres in order to 

achieve sustainable development.  The proposed development would be likely to adversely 

impact on both Accrington and Blackburn Town Centres and act as a disincentive for new 

investment in the town centres.   

2. The application does not satisfy the sequential approach to the location of retail 

proposals in that there are sequentially preferable sites available to accommodate a 

proportion of the open A1 floorspace.  In failing the sequential assessment the application is 

contrary to Policy EC8 of the Regional Spatial Strategy.   

Page 17



4 

 

 

The applicant appealed and following a public inquiry the appeal (ref APP/R2330 /A/07/ 

2051143) was dismissed in June 2008.  The Inspector believed that geographically superior 

locations existed in the centres of Accrington and Blackburn and that the development 

would have negative and harmful impacts on these critical areas of both towns.  Although 

the main issue was the potential impact of the development on the vitality and viability of 

town centres, the accessibility of the site was also considered by the Inspector.  At 

paragraph 43 he recognised that the “location of the appeal site is such that it would be 

difficult to render it significantly more attractive to pedestrians or cyclists, but I believe this 

aspect of the case is more than outweighed by the improved bus service.”   

 

In 2009 the Council entered into a s.106 agreement with the applicant that replaced the 

agreements made under s.52 but still restricted the range of goods that could be sold from a 

large portion of the Peel Centre, including the application site (Unit 6).  This was achieved 

through application 11/09/0042 and the officers report recognised that the aim of the original 

agreement was to protect the vitality and viability of the adjacent town centres of Blackburn 

and Accrington and the local centres such as Rishton.   

 

In February 2011 a planning application (ref 11/11/0065) was submitted for the 

reconfiguration and partial demolition of Unit 2 and the creation of two units.  This was 

granted subject to planning conditions and the s.106 agreement limiting the range of goods 

that could be sold on the site remained in force.   

 

However, in December 2011 an application for a certificate of lawfulness for retail use was 

submitted for Unit 2 (ref 11/11/0515).  This application was refused and although the 

applicant appealed, the appeal was later withdrawn and the matter was determined through 

the courts.  The Court of Appeal determined in 2013 that the units should be subject to the 

provisions of the legal agreements that had been entered into and that there was no 

entitlement to use the unit(s) for unrestricted retail use.   

 

In 2015 an application was made for Unit 2 to be a food retail store (11/15/0430). This was 

approved subject to a S106 relating to the goods that could be sold.  

 

11/19/0024: Planning Obligation Modification sought to the s106 agreement dated 23/06/09. 

Also for consideration at this Planning Committee.  

 

Relevant Policies   

 

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that if regard is to 

be had to the development Plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 

Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.   

 

Hyndburn Core Strategy 

 

Policy BD1  The Balanced Development Strategy 

Page 18



5 

 

Policy A2  Accrington Town Centre 

Policy H2  Leisure, Health and Culture 

Policy HC4  Community Benefits/ Planning Obligations 

Policy Env7   Environmental Amenity 

 

Development Management Development Plan Document 

 

GC1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development  

GC2: Infrastructure, Planning Obligations and CIL 

DM3: Development of main town centre uses 

DM29: Environmental Amenity 

DM32: Sustainable Transport, Traffic and Highway Safety 

 

Material considerations 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) including  

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

Hyndburn Retail Study 2016 

DMDPD GN8: Car parking, access standards and transport assessment/travel plan 

thresholds. 

 

Key issues for consideration: 

 

The key issues for consideration are principle of the development, amenity, traffic and 

highway safety and other matters.  

 

Principle of the development 

 

The proposed use of the newly formed Unit 1B will be for assembly and leisure: a 

gymnasium (Use Class D2) which is a town centre use.  

 

Policy BD1 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy is a strategic policy which sets out the principles 

underpinning the Local Development Framework in the Borough.  It states that the existing 

settlement pattern will be maintained and supported by concentrating development within 

the urban areas and in centres.  Accrington Town Centre will be the principle centre and will 

provide for the Borough’s key services, retail and town centre needs.  It also states that 

Rishton town centre will be strengthened and enhanced as a local centre to provide key 

services to the local community.  The proposed development is within, albeit at the edge, of 

the urban area.   

 

Policy A2 of the Core Strategy relates specifically to development in Accrington Town 

Centre, as the principle centre of the Borough.   

 

This approach is broadly consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

Where town centres uses are proposed in out of centre locations, NPPF also requires that 

local planning authorities apply a sequential and impact test to consider whether there are 

Page 19



6 

 

sequentially preferable sites and to consider the degree of impact the development would 

have on town and local centres.  Policy DM23 of the Development Management 

Development Plan Document (DMDPD) provides further information in relation to sequential 

tests and retail impact tests. It requires that both are satisfied for this type of development.  

 

The proposal has been considered by an external consultant who has provided independent 

advice to Officers on the impact this development would have. The advice reported here 

relates to the impact of the development of Unit 1B for a D2 use only. The impact of the 

changes to Unit 1A are considered under the other application for modification of the 

planning obligation before Planning Committee for consideration today (11/19/0024).  

 

Sequential Test:  

 

It is anticipated that the proposed gym would provide an opportunity for linked trips at the 

Peel centre ad will serve those who live and work in the immediate area. It is also noted that 

there are significant employment sites in close proximity to the application site and that 

many gym users will visit before or after the normal working day. It is also accepted that the 

proposed gym would draw a lot of trade from Great Harwood and the surrounding rural 

areas. 

 

The consultant has also confirmed to officers that they do not consider that there are any 

available vacant units of sufficient size to accommodate the prosed development in 

sequentially preferable locations within the catchment areas.  

 

As such therefore officers consider that in line with Policy DM3 of the DM DPD, and 

paragraphs 86-87 of the NPPF, the applicant has demonstrated that there are no 

sequentially preferable sites that are available or suitable for the proposed development. 

The sequential test is therefore passed.  

 

Retail Impact Test: 

 

It is acknowledged that the gym will fall below the threshold for impact assessment set out in 

the NPPF and that local thresholds set put within Policy DM23 of the DMDPD refer only to 

retail development. As such this is not required to be assessed for this application.  

 

The proposed gym is likely to serve a more localised catchment area, within which there is 

little alternative provision, it is also noted that the proposed change of use of unit 1B will 

result in a reduction of retail floor area in this out of centre location. As such it is not 

considered that there would be significant impacts on any defined centres and the principle 

of this development is acceptable subject to the other relevant policies of the Local 

Development Framework.  

 

Amenity 

 

Core Strategy Policy Env7 and DMDPD Policy DM29 both relate to amenity considerations 

of development. As this proposal is for internal works only and external changes to the 

Page 20



7 

 

building will be considered in a separate application, should this planning permission and 

the application to modify the s106 agreement (11/19/0024) be granted, officers do not 

consider that there would be a significantly detrimental impact on the amenity of 

neighbouring uses as a result of this development.  

 

The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has requests some conditions in relation to the 

construction phase of the development and proposed mechanical ventilation. However as 

the development is not located within a residential area, officers do not consider these 

conditions are necessary. 

 

Therefore officers are satisfied that the development meets with the relevant planning 

policies in this regard. 

 

Traffic and highway safety 

 

Policy Env7 of the Core Strategy aims to avoid development which has an unacceptable 

adverse impact by reason of traffic. DMDPD DM 32 also provides further detail in relation to 

traffic and highway considerations.  

 

The applicant has submitted a Transport Assessment which has been considered in full by 

the Highways Authority (HA).  

 

The HA have confirmed that an assessment of the signalised junctions from Peel Retail 

Park and Whitebirk Drive has been completed within the Transport Assessment and some 

observations have been made by the Consultant about operation of the signalised junctions, 

particularly the most southern junction which takes the most retail park traffic. 

 

An assessment of the signalised junction Whitebirk Drive/Blakewater Road/Peel Retail Park 

has been made by a HA Signals Engineer and a number of matters are highlighted that 

require action. A number of matters have also been recently dealt with by LCC through the 

condition discharge application 11/17/0265 for Aldi supermarket including:- 

 

1.  Safer operation of the junction in terms of how it deals with high speed traffic. 

2.  Robust operation of the two junctions by ensuring central reservoir is vacant when 

priority moves away from the main road. 

3.  Improved efficiency of junction stage transitions through phase delays. 

Despite making changes to improve safety, such as increasing intergreen times, 

capacity of the site has improved from -21.3% to -13.9% PRC in the AM Peak hour 

and remained almost unchanged in the PM Peak hour changing from -6.7%to -6.8% 

PRC. 

4.  Reduction in delay to drivers at the junction from 118.48pcuHr (average of 128 

seconds per PCU) to 65.02pcuHr (average of 70 seconds per PCU) in the AM Peak 

and 67.76pcuHr (average of 62 seconds per PCU) to 63.95pcuHr (average of 58 

seconds per PCU) in the PM Peak. 

5.  Added adaptability to different flow patterns through varying max green times 

throughout the day. 

Page 21



8 

 

6.  Removed potential driver confusion for Blakewater Road approach by controlling 

appearance of a filter arrow.   

 

Using the traffic flows from the consultant's modelling, the HA modelling shows that, in the 

PM Peak, the junction, as it will be configured following the optimisation work, is already 

over capacity in 2023 without this development’s associated traffic. The addition of this 

development’s traffic will worsen the practical reserve capacity at the site from -10.3% to -

11.4%. It is a fairly small change in capacity, but once a junction is over capacity a small 

increase in traffic can cause a significant increase in queue lengths and delay time. 

 

The following works have therefore been highlighted at the junction and they are considered 

necessary to be implemented to ensure a safe and suitable access for this development and 

to mitigate the impact of the development traffic. Without these works, the HA have 

confirmed they would not be able to support the development. The works are listed in full in 

the consultation section of this report.  

 

In relation to parking and servicing, there are already approx. 210 parking spaces in the 

existing car park in front of the vacant units. The DMDPD GN8 states that the proposed 

2323sqm of Gym would require a maximum of 106 spaces and should the development be 

approved, Home Bargains will require a maximum of 149 spaces, totalling 255.   

 

This is a shortfall from the maximum of 45 car parking spaces. However this shortfall is not 

anticipated to cause any traffic flow issues or any overspill onto the adjacent highways, as 

the HA observations show that there is a good amount of spare car parking capacity across 

the whole retail park to accommodate any overspill as a result of this development.  

 

Notwithstanding this, the peak demand for car parking at the gym and Home Bargains will 

not occur at the same time. The gym is likely to peak in demand during the early morning 

and later evening periods whereas the retail unit will peak in the afternoons. There is likely 

to be element of linked trips on a retail park and therefore the car parking provision does not 

raise a concern. 

 

Finally it is highlighted by the HA that there is currently no cycle, motorcycle or electric 

vehicle parking at the site and this does need addressing with a planning condition. A 

secure, covered cycle provision for 21 cycles is required, provision for 8 motorcycles and 2 

electric vehicle charging points. Subject to the cycle, motorcycle and electric charging 

parking provision being provided, there is no concern about the level of car parking which 

exists to serve the proposed development. 

 

There are no concerns regarding the existing servicing arrangements. 

 

The HA conclude that there is no objection to the proposal subject to the conditions relating 

to the s278 works listed in the consultation section of this report and the parking provision 

conditions detailed above.  

 

Page 22



9 

 

Therefore in the absence of an objection on these grounds from the statutory consultee, and 

the inclusion of the suggested conditions as set out in the report, officers are satisfied that 

the development meets with local and national planning policy in this regard. 

 

It should be noted that at the time of writing the committee report, the applicant’s highways 

consultant had not confirmed the acceptance of the s278 works or the parking conditions. 

Any changes will be reports in the update sheet. 

 

Other matters 

 

As this development is not increasing the surface area of the building, it is not considered 

that a Flood Risk Assessment is required.  

 

Policy HC2 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy states that proposals for new or improved sports, 

recreation , health, community and cultural facilities will be supported.  The residents of 

Hyndburn face a variety of health challenges and the development of a new gym in this 

location will contribute towards the range of health and fitness facilities available within the 

Borough.   

 

Conclusion 

 

In assessing this application, the policies of the development plan and other relevant local 

and national policy considerations have been taken into account, officers recommend that 

planning permission be granted subject to the conditions listed below and the amendment to 

the s106 dated 23/06/2019 being signed under 11/19/0024. 

 

Conditions: 

 

1.The development hereby approved shall be commenced before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority retains the right to review 

unimplemented permissions and to comply with Section 91 (as amended) of the  Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following plans and 

documents: 

 

AGH/173/305A received 17th Jan 2019 

AGH/173/101B received 17th Jan 2019 

Site Plan SK2 Rev A received 17th Jan 2019 

 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to enable Hyndburn Borough Council to adequately 

control the development and to minimise its impact on the amenities of the local area and to 

conform with Policies Env6 & Env7 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy.   

 

Page 23



10 

 

3. Prior to first trading 21 secure, covered cycle parking places, 8 motorcycle spaces and 2 

electric vehicle charging points shall be provided in line with a scheme first submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority, and retained for the duration of the 

development.. 

 

Reason: In the interest of traffic and highway safety in accordance with the provisions of 

Development Management Development Plan Document Policy DM32 Sustainable 

transport, Traffic and Highway Safety. 

 

4. A scheme and programme for the off-site highway works at the signalised junction 

Whitebirk Drive / Blakewater Road and Peel Retail Park shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the local planning authority and subsequently implemented in accordance with 

the timescale detailed within the approved scheme and programme, and then reviewed 

within 6 months of first trading to see if any further works are required and if so these will be 

implemented in accordance with the findings.  

 

Reason: In the interest of traffic and highway safety in accordance with the provisions of 

Development Management Development Plan Document Policy DM32 Sustainable 

transport, Traffic and Highway Safety. 

 

 

Informative note: 

 

The grant of planning permission will require the applicant to enter into a Section 278 

Agreement, with the County Council as Highway Authority. The applicant should be advised 

to contact Lancashire County Council, Highway Development Control email – 

developeras@lancashire.gov.uk in the first instance to ascertain the details of such an 

agreement and the information to be provided. 

Page 24


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of the Last Meeting
	Minutes

	3. Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination
	3.1. 11 19 0024
	3.2. 11 19 0016


